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i 

 
QUESTION PRESENTED 

 
Whether double jeopardy protects a defendant from 
the irreparable harm of successive prosecutions for 
the same wire fraud charges, scheme and conduct 
that the Fifth Circuit held were not criminal under 
the government’s expansive view of the intangible 
right of honest services. 
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PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDING 

 
Petitioner was a Defendant in the district court along 
with co-Defendants Daniel Bayly and Robert Furst in 
United States v. Brown, 571 F.3d 492 (5th Cir. 2009) 
[Brown II]. The district court granted Brown’s motion 
for severance from his co-Defendants, found all 
Defendants’ double jeopardy issues “non-frivolous,” 
and stayed proceedings for interlocutory appeal to the 
Fifth Circuit. Bayly and Furst were Appellants in the 
Fifth Circuit, but they are not parties before this 
Court. 
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INTRODUCTION 

 This petition presents another problem of statu-
tory construction, Circuit conflict, and constitutional 
concern arising from the application of the federal 
wire fraud statutes to a private business transaction 
where the Defendant neither sought nor received any 
personal gain. The Circuits disagree over the scope, 
application and constitutionality of § 1343 (wire 
fraud) and § 1346 (honest services), which led this 
Court to grant certiorari in United States v. Black,1 
United States v. Weyhrauch,2 and United States v. 
Skilling.3 In Cleveland v. United States, 531 U.S. 12, 
25-26 (2000), this Court addressed the parallel mail 
fraud statute and held that the two phrases in § 1341 
(“scheme or artifice to defraud” and “for obtaining 
money or property”) constitute a single offense. How-
ever, with respect to §§ 1343 and 1346, this Court has 
not spoken, and the Circuits cannot agree on whether 
or when the statutes create one offense, two offenses, 
or, no offense at all. Because there is no uniform 
understanding of the boundaries of wire fraud – 

 
 1 530 F.3d 596 (7th Cir. 2008), cert. granted, 129 S. Ct. 2379 
(2009) (challenging application of § 1346 to private actor whose 
alleged scheme “did not contemplate economic or other property 
harm to the private party to whom honest services were owed”).  
 2 548 F.3d 1237 (9th Cir. 2008), cert. granted, 129 S. Ct. 
2863 (2009) (challenging application of § 1346 to a public 
official). 
 3 554 F.3d 529 (5th Cir. 2009), cert. granted, 77 U.S.L.W. 
3645 (U.S. October 13, 2009) (No. 08-1394) (challenging 
application of § 1346 to the conduct of an Enron executive). 
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especially when “intangible rights” are implicated – 
Brown’s Fifth Amendment rights have been com-
promised. The Fifth Circuit ignored fundamental 
principles and procedures of double jeopardy juris-
prudence and wrongfully approved a second prose-
cution of Brown on the same wire fraud charges, 
conduct, and scheme that the Fifth Circuit held did 
not constitute an “honest services” crime. United 
States v. Brown, 459 F.3d 509, 523 (5th Cir. 2006), 
cert. denied, 127 S. Ct. 2249 (2007) [Brown I]. 
Brown’s case exemplifies another unconstitutional 
consequence of the ambiguity and confusion sur-
rounding the wire fraud offense and the prosecutorial 
overreaching that has plagued this area of the law. 

--------------------------------- ♦ --------------------------------- 
 

OPINIONS BELOW 

 The opinions of the United States Court of 
Appeals for the Fifth Circuit are reported at 571 F.3d 
472 (5th Cir. 2009) and 459 F.3d 509 (5th Cir. 2006). 
App.1a, 63a. 

--------------------------------- ♦ --------------------------------- 
 

JURISDICTION 

 After the district court denied Brown’s motion to 
dismiss the indictment, Brown pursued a timely inter-
locutory appeal to claim protection against double 
jeopardy. The Fifth Circuit did not examine the 
indictments but nevertheless found “no impediment to 
a second trial” on the same, lightly redacted 
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indictment on June 16, 2009. Rehearing was denied 
on July 27, 2009. The jurisdiction of this Court is 
invoked under 28 U.S.C. § 1254(1) and Abney v. 
United States, 431 U.S. 651 (1977). 

--------------------------------- ♦ --------------------------------- 
 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS INVOLVED 

 The Appendix to the Petition for Writ of 
Certiorari reproduces the text of the Fifth Amend-
ment, and 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 1343 and 1346. 
App.126a-28a. 

--------------------------------- ♦ --------------------------------- 
 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 This case arises from the Enron Task Force’s 
novel and unprecedented prosecution of four Merrill 
Lynch executives based on Enron’s accounting in a 
transaction so financially immaterial that the govern-
ment did not charge a securities fraud. Instead, the 
government asserted that the Merrill employees 
violated the wire fraud provisions of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 
and § 1346 while representing Merrill in a business 
transaction with Enron in late 1999. The government 
contended the deal was merely a sham to inflate 
Enron’s earnings. Brown I, 459 F.3d at 515-16.  

 Enron solicited Merrill to invest $7 million, and 
borrow $21 million, to purchase a minority interest in 
a company owning several power generators built on 
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barges for emergency use in Nigeria. Tr. 799, 814-15. 
Corporate and outside counsel of both parties 
negotiated the transaction, and Enron’s counsel, 
Vinson & Elkins, finalized the sale documents. The 
documents transferred Enron’s risk in the transaction 
to Merrill, and counsel and employees for both com-
panies intended that Merrill assume the necessary 
risk to make the transaction a sale. The final docu-
ments also contained the customary integration 
clause, expressly excluding any prior conversations or 
representations. App.158a-59a. The transaction bore 
all the hallmarks of a normal business venture. 
Enron kept Merrill’s $7 million and ultimately 
profited $53 million on the barge sale to a third party. 
Sentencing Tr. 19, 26-27. Merrill earned a total of 
$775,000. Brown and his co-Defendants did not make 
a dime. Merrill Lynch was never indicted. The 
government did not allege any bribery, kickbacks or 
self-dealing by any Defendant – nor could it.  

 After a six-week trial in Houston, in the wake of 
Enron’s collapse and the conviction of Arthur 
Andersen, a jury convicted Brown and his Merrill co-
Defendants on all counts. A divided panel of the Fifth 
Circuit reversed the conspiracy and wire fraud 
convictions, finding the Defendants’ conduct did not 
constitute an “honest services” crime. On remand, the 
government did not return to a grand jury for a new 
indictment. Instead, it recycled the same indictment, 
merely redacting the words “honest services” and 
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most of the indictment’s references to 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1346. App.128a.  

 Brown now faces a second trial on the identical 
charges, scheme and conduct that the Fifth Circuit 
held was not criminal under the government’s broad-
est case – an intangible rights or honest services wire 
fraud. Brown I, 459 F.3d at 517, 522-23. 

 
Proceedings in the District Court 

and the First Appeal 

 1. Brown and his former Merrill Lynch co-
Defendants, Daniel Bayly, Robert Furst, and William 
Fuhs, were indicted along with two mid-level Enron 
employees in September 2003 in the Southern 
District of Texas. App.40a. Count I charged a two-
pronged conspiracy to (a) commit wire fraud and (b) 
falsify Enron’s book and records.4 Counts II and III 
alleged substantive counts of wire fraud only, corre-
lating directly with the conspiracy to commit wire 
fraud charged in Count I(a). 

 2. From the outset, Brown contended that the 
wire fraud statute, with or without the added breadth 
of § 1346, did not criminalize his conduct where there 
was no criminal intent, no pursuit of personal gain, 
and the transaction was guided and negotiated by 

 
 4 Count I(b), the “books and records conspiracy,” is not 
implicated in this petition, which addresses only the wire fraud 
allegations that are ripe for review.  
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counsel for both parties. Brown also argued that the 
statutes provided no fair warning that his conduct 
was criminal. Dkts. 118, 119, 120, 134, 160, 162, 163, 
180, 212, 256, 301, 307, 492, 637, 639, 641; see also 
Dkts. 708, 714, 748 (motions for release pending 
appeal); Dkts. 952, 964, 967, 994, 998, 1004, 1012, 
1067, 1076 (motions to dismiss filed after reversal 
and remand to district court). 

 3. In the government’s view, the barge deal was 
a “sham,” a loan rather than a sale, designed solely to 
inflate Enron’s 1999 earnings. The government’s case 
rested on a few preliminary or draft documents 
(before review by counsel) and on its hearsay version 
of a five-minute telephone conversation between 
Enron CFO Andrew Fastow, other Enron executives, 
and Merrill executives (but not Brown), in which 
Fastow allegedly “guaranteed” that Merrill would be 
bought out in six months.5 However, under the 
government’s best case, the $40 billion Enron 
Corporation reported a $12 million pre-tax gain 
several months early, and should have waited until 
fall 2000 to report it with the $53 million gain 
realized upon the sale of the entire barge project. 
According to the government, the individual Merrill 
bankers bore criminal responsibility for Enron’s 
incorrect reporting even though the bankers had no 
legal duty to Enron or its shareholders, did not 

 
 5 Neither Fastow nor any party to the crucial telephone call 
testified at trial.  
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commit securities fraud, engaged in no bribery, 
kickbacks or self-dealing, and neither sought nor 
obtained any personal gain.6 Ignoring the integration 
clause in the final contract (App.158a), the govern-
ment viewed the documents, drafted and reviewed by 
counsel for both companies, as simply part of the 
fraud in their omission of any reference to the 
government’s version of an alleged “side deal” reached 
in the Fastow call. 

 4. Defendants always maintained that Fastow’s 
only assurance to Merrill was that Enron would use 
its “best efforts” to remarket the barges to a third-
party quickly – a representation that, even the 
government agrees, renders the transaction lawful. 
See Tr. 4520, 6485; App.161a-66a; Government’s 
Opposition to Furst’s Corrected Motion For Release 
Pending Appeal, at 3 n.1, 17; United States v. Brown, 
No. 05-20319 (5th Cir. June 1, 2005); Brief for 
Appellee United States, at 229-30 n.87, United States 
v. Brown, No. 05-20319 (5th Cir. Oct. 11, 2005).  

 
 6 Remarkably, if this were a civil case, Brown would have 
been entitled to dismissal on summary judgment. A different 
panel of the Fifth Circuit held in a private civil action that 
Brown and his Co-Defendants owed no duty to Enron or its 
shareholders and that there was no third-party civil liability for 
this very transaction. Regents of University of California v. 
Credit Suisse First Boston (USA), Inc., 482 F.3d 372, 377, 384, 
386-87 (5th Cir. 2007), cert. denied, Regents of University of 
California v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., ___ 
U.S. ___, 128 S. Ct. 1120 (2008); see Stoneridge Inv. Partners 
LLC v. Scientific-Atlanta, 552 U.S. 148 (2008). Brown was never 
charged by the SEC.  
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 5. During this seven-year prosecution, the Task 
Force not only stretched the wire fraud statutes 
beyond any prior interpretation, but also persuaded 
the district court to expand the definition of “con-
spiracy” beyond the universal requisite, “agreement,” 
to include mere “understanding” and to give a 
Pinkerton instruction. Tr. 6113-15, 6124; App.167a-
72a. In addition, the prosecutors failed to produce 
crucial Brady material, including evidence that (i) 
Fastow represented only that Enron would use its 
“best efforts” to remarket the barges – just as 
Defendants explained; and, (ii) Merrill’s requests to 
include the “best-efforts” agreement in the final 
documents were rejected by counsel for Enron, who 
were adamant that Enron retain no conceivable risk. 
Dkts. 948, 974, 993, 1004, 1006, 1029, 1039, 1041, 
1063, 1067; App.161a. 

 6. The Task Force prosecutors opposed bail 
pending appeal – both in the district court and again 
in the Fifth Circuit – contending that “there was no 
substantial issue for appeal.” All Merrill Defendants 
were incarcerated. Dkts. 628, 800, 825, 834. Brown 
served a year in prison awaiting the Fifth Circuit’s 
first decision. 

 7. On appeal, the Fifth Circuit rejected the gov-
ernment’s unprecedented, expansive use of wire 
fraud. The panel unanimously acquitted William 
Fuhs. As to Brown, Bayly and Furst, the panel 
split – much as the Circuits have done. The majority 
reversed and vacated the conspiracy and wire fraud 
convictions because Defendants’ “alleged conduct is 
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not a federal crime under the honest services theory 
of fraud specifically.”7 Brown I, 459 F.3d at 523 
(emphasis in original).  

 The majority aligned with the Second Circuit, 
which construed § 1346 to require bribery, kickbacks 
or self-dealing.8 Brown I, 459 F.3d at 521. The 
majority also approved Brown’s fair warning 
argument, observing that there was no reason “the 
Defendants should have recognized, . . . , that the 
[Enron] ‘employee services’ taken to achieve [Enron’s] 
corporate goals constituted a criminal breach of duty 
to Enron.” Id. at 522 (emphasis in original). The 
majority recognized that “applying the wire fraud 
statute here . . . would expand honest services fraud 
to reach all manner of accounting fraud and secu-
rities fraud, which have not generally been prose-
cuted as honest services fraud and are heavily 
regulated under other statutes.” Id. at 522 n.13. With 

 
 7 The majority affirmed convictions of Brown for perjury 
and obstruction on the basis of an email Brown wrote 14 months 
after the barge transaction in an unrelated matter. Those 
convictions are subject to ongoing litigation and a motion to 
dismiss for egregious prosecutorial misconduct and withholding 
Brady material. Dkts. 948, 974, 993, 1004, 1006, 1029, 1039, 
1041, 1063, 1067. While incarcerated pending appeal, Brown 
served what would have been the maximum possible sentence 
for those offenses. Dkt. 950. 
 8 United States v. Rybicki, 354 F.3d 124, 139-44 (2d Cir. 
2003) (en banc), cert. denied, 543 U.S. 809 (2004) (limiting 
§ 1346 to reach (1) bribery and kickbacks, and, (2) conflicted self-
dealing). The dissent in Rybicki would have declared the statute 
unconstitutionally vague. Id. at 159 (Jacobs, J., dissenting). 
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concern, it noted: “The government would in fact go 
even further, . . . the honest services charge would 
reach Defendants’ conduct even absent an oral buy-
back agreement.” This extension “crystalizes the 
danger we face of defining an ever-expanding and 
ever-evolving federal common law crime.” Id. (em-
phasis in original). The majority expressly refused to 
address any of Defendants’ challenges to the entire, 
unprecedented indictment or errors in the trial.9 Id. 
at 517, 523.  

 Judge Reavley, who wrote the panel decision 
giving rise to this petition, dissented in Brown I and 
urged that the wire fraud convictions be affirmed. 
Judge Reavley advocated expanding wire fraud to 
criminalize “dishonest” conduct without bribery, kick-
backs or self-dealing. Id. at 532. (Reavley, J., con-
curring in part and dissenting in part). 

 Judge DeMoss, writing separately, aligned with 
the Second Circuit dissenters in Rybicki, 354 F.3d at 
155-65. He would have reached “defendants’ consti-
tutional challenge” to the statutes, reversed all counts, 
and acquitted Brown of perjury and obstruction. 

 
 9 It stated that the evidence was “sufficient” to convict 
Brown, Bayly and Furst. That observation, however, can be 
nothing more than dicta in view of the court’s ultimate holding 
that Defendants’ conduct was not criminal under the 
government’s most expansive use of the wire fraud statute, the 
panel’s refusal to review the entire indictment, and the absence 
of a valid indictment once the court rejected the underpinning of 
honest services. Brown I, 459 F.3d at 525. 



11 

Brown I, 459 F.3d at 534-36 (DeMoss, J., concurring 
in part and dissenting in part). He highlighted 
“ambiguities in the text,” expressed “grave reserva-
tions about the statute’s application,” and noted that 
the Circuit courts, in their refusal to address “the 
larger constitutional problem with the statute,” have 
only “clouded the meaning of § 1346” while defining 
“what constitutes criminal conduct on an ex post facto 
and ad hoc basis.” Id. at 534. Judge DeMoss 
perceived the government’s creative combination of 
statutes and its theories of criminal conduct as “a 
very real threat, of potentially dramatic proportion, to 
legitimate and lawful business relationships and the 
negotiations necessary to the creation of such 
relationships.” Id. at 535. Judge DeMoss also urged: 
“Such negotiations should not be the fodder for 
criminal indictments. If there is any criminal wrong 
arising from the facts in this record, and I have 
serious doubts on that score, it would be in Enron’s 
employees’ reporting of the transaction described in 
the Engagement Letter, not in the manner in which 
Merrill’s employees negotiated the deal.” Id. at 536.  

 
Proceedings in the District Court on Remand 
upon Reversal of the Wire Fraud Convictions 

 1. Upon remand, without returning to a grand 
jury, the government simply redacted most of the 
indictment’s references to § 1346 and to the phrase, 
“including to deprive them [Enron and its share-
holders] of the intangible right of honest services of 
its employees.” Dkt. 937. Unlike every case relied 
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upon by the government in Brown II, the government 
added no new factual allegations or counts. App.129a, 
138a.  

 2. Brown moved to dismiss the indictment 
alleging that: (i) the indictment as redacted was 
insufficient on its face to state a wire fraud offense 
because it does not allege that Brown schemed to 
take any identified money or property from any 
victim; (ii) as a matter of law, the indictment always 
alleged only one wire fraud scheme for which he was 
acquitted; and, (iii) Brown could not be prosecuted 
again on the same fraud allegations, scheme and 
conduct. Dkts. 952, 994, 1012, 1025. 

 3. The district court denied Brown’s motion to 
dismiss the indictment,10 but considered the double 
jeopardy question close enough to warrant an inter-
locutory appeal. Although it viewed the remaining 
fraud allegations as a “stand-alone offense,” the 

 
 10 In violation of this Court’s decisions in Stirone v. United 
States, 361 U.S. 212, 215-18 (1960), Russell v. United States, 369 
U.S. 749, 764-66 (1962) and Cleveland, 531 U.S. at 24, the 
district court saved the indictment from dismissal for facial 
insufficiency by constructively amending it to allege that Brown 
schemed to deprive Enron of “material economic information.” 
Upon pressure by the district court to identify a specific money 
or property allegation, the prosecutor could not find one. He 
referred to ¶ 31 of the indictment, which merely quotes from a 
memo discussing a “proposed” $250,000 fee to Merrill; and, as to 
property, pointed to Enron’s “false books and records.” He 
conceded: “I am not sure that [material economic information] is 
specifically alleged in the indictment.” Dkt. 1010, at pp. 37-42; 
App.173a-79a. 
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district court recognized that the remaining wire 
fraud charges still depend on the “same facts” and the 
“same scheme,” and that the Fifth Circuit in Brown I 
had not considered the double jeopardy issue. United 
States v. Bayly, No. 04:03-cr-00363 (S.D. Tex. January 
7, 2008), App.15a-39a. The district court also com-
mented on the confusion in the law, noting that the 
Fifth Circuit’s opinion reversing Brown’s conviction 
“does not discuss the inter-relationship of the under-
lying theories of wire fraud all based on the same 
alleged scheme and set of facts.” App.33a. It candidly 
noted:  

Even the Circuit Court’s conclusion that the 
“Government must turn to other statutes, or 
even the wire fraud statutes absent the 
component of honest services, to punish this 
character of wrongdoing,” seems to be 
written more in the abstract rather than as a 
specific approval for retrying these Defen-
dants on this Third Superceding Indictment 
as now redacted. 

Id. (emphasis in original) (internal citation omitted). 
The district court could find no authority analyzing 
the  

government’s ability to prosecute a wire 
fraud on a money and property theory . . . 
where the underlying conduct of the 
employees has been held not to constitute 
a scheme to defraud the victim of the 
employee’s honest services, let alone a case 
examining the interplay between these 
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theories in the context of a factually similar 
indictment.11 

App.34a. Finding that Defendants’ double jeopardy 
claims were not frivolous, the court stayed all 
proceedings for the Abney appeal. 

 
Proceedings on Interlocutory Appeal 

 1. Brown pursued his double jeopardy argu-
ment on interlocutory appeal as to the wire fraud 
charges in Counts I(a), II, and III.  

 2. The government claimed a right to prosecute 
Brown “solely on the ground that [he] deprived Enron 
and its shareholders and to obtain money and 
property by means or [sic] materially false pretenses, 
representations and promises.” App.133a. It miscast 
Brown’s appellate argument as an attack on the facial 
sufficiency of the indictment and argued that the 
Court of Appeals lacked jurisdiction. The government 
did not address Brown’s double jeopardy argument on 
its merits. It did, however, effectively concede that 
jeopardy terminated on “honest services” fraud in 
Brown I, agreeing that the government could proceed 
only on an indictment that did not depend on honest 
services.12 Brief of Appellee United States, at 34, 36, 

 
 11 The second indictment was factually identical – not just 
similar. App.40a, 138a. 
 12 The reversal in Brown I was tantamount to a factual 
acquittal – the government’s best case was insufficient as a 
matter of law. The Defendants’ conduct was not criminal. See 

(Continued on following page) 
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United States v. Brown, No. 08-20038 (5th Cir. June 
11, 2008). 

 3. Judge Reavley, the dissenter in Brown I, 
authored Brown II, holding that “there is no issue of 
double jeopardy or collateral estoppel that impairs a 
retrial here.” Brown II, 571 F.3d at 499. Adopting the 
government’s view, the court mischaracterized 
Brown’s argument as merely a challenge to the 
sufficiency of the indictment. Id. at 498; App.1a. It 
affirmed the district court’s decision to proceed with 
a second trial on the “redacted version of the 
indictment [ ]  otherwise identical to the indictment 
on which the Defendants were convicted at the first 
trial,” and emphasized that it expressed no opinion on 
the sufficiency of the indictment. Id. at 496. It 
ignored Brown’s arguments that as a matter of law: 
(i) only the breadth added by § 1346 could possibly 

 
Burks v. United States, 437 U.S. 1, 16 (1978) (“The government’s 
case was so lacking that it should not have even been submitted 
to the jury.”) (emphasis in original); cf. Smalis v. Pennsylvania, 
476 U.S. 140, 142 (1986) (judgment that the evidence is legally 
insufficient to sustain a guilty verdict constitutes an acquittal 
for purposes of the Double Jeopardy Clause). See also 
Piatkowski v. Brett, 256 F.3d 687, 695 (7th Cir. 2001) (decision 
which is “functional equivalent” of an acquittal will bar retrial 
under Double Jeopardy Clause). In this case, acquittal on 
substantive counts bars a second prosecution for conspiracy to 
accomplish the same offense. McNally v. United States, 483 U.S. 
350, 361 (1987); see also United States v. Hughey, 147 F.3d 423, 
436 (5th Cir. 1998) (“If an indictment does not charge a 
cognizable federal offense, then a federal court lacks jurisdiction 
to try a defendant for violation of the offense.”). 
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render this conduct criminal; (ii) the indictment 
always charged only one wire fraud; and, (iii) Brown 
could not be tried again for the identical fraud. 
Ignoring the substantive counts based solely on wire 
fraud, the panel rejected Brown’s pure double 
jeopardy argument as “contrary to a plain reading of 
Brown I which specifically recognized that the indict-
ment alleged three means for the conspiracy.” Id. at 
498. Contradicting itself, the panel conceded that 
Brown I “did not consider any other means of fraud 
alleged.”13 Id. at 497. Rehearing en banc was denied. 
App.124a. 

--------------------------------- ♦ --------------------------------- 
 

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE WRIT 

 This Court should grant certiorari to resolve two 
interrelated splits in the Circuits: one, concerning the 
scope of wire fraud and the other, the process by 
which a claim of double jeopardy is adjudicated. The 
first split requires this Court’s guidance in applying 
the wire fraud statute to a private business trans-
action in which the accused neither sought nor 
obtained money or property. Underlying the Fifth 
Circuit’s refusal to examine the identical scheme, 

 
 13 In another contradiction, in note 26, the panel claims that 
Brown I decided the “limited question whether the indictment 
alleged one specific type of wire fraud” (id. at 498 n.26), but said 
at the text accompanying note 11 that Brown I “expressly 
declined to address the viability of the money or property 
charge.” Id. at 496.  
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conduct and charges for a double jeopardy violation is 
a dangerous and fundamental misconstruction of the 
wire fraud statute, which creates two separate 
offenses, expanding the statute’s reach and potential 
for abuse. Only after the scope of the wire fraud stat-
ute is resolved can this Court meaningfully address 
the second split and determine when double jeopardy 
applies.  

 The Fifth Circuit deviated dangerously from the 
settled process of determining a double jeopardy 
claim. It failed to compare the two indictments and 
did not hold the government to its burden of 
demonstrating that the recycled indictment alleged a 
wire fraud offense separate from that for which 
jeopardy terminated. The Fifth Circuit’s failure to 
examine the indictments cannot be reconciled with 
the law of this Court and splits from the procedure 
adopted by eight Circuits to protect this Fifth 
Amendment right. That error alone merits this 
Court’s review and correction.  

 This Court has long held that issues of double 
jeopardy are immediately appealable because a 
Defendant’s right against double jeopardy cannot be 
vindicated once he has been subjected to the second 
action. Abney v. United States, 431 U.S. 651, 659 
(1977). See United States v. Dixon, 509 U.S. 688, 692-
93 (1993). This important problem of constitutional 
criminal procedure is confounded, however, because 
the lower courts cannot discern whether an indict-
ment states one offense, two, or no criminal offense 
at all. The Fifth Circuit’s refusal to examine the 
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indictment to assess Brown’s double jeopardy appeal 
emanates from the underlying weakness, novelty and 
breadth of these wire fraud allegations. Thus, this 
case adds another issue of constitutional dimension to 
those this Court will address in Black, Weyhrauch, 
and Skilling, and it offers a vehicle for extending 
Cleveland, to establish that §§ 1343 and 1346 are not 
separate offenses. 

 This case is also of great importance because it 
has been closely watched, has been and will be 
enormously influential,14 and has wrought profound 
unfairness. Petitioner’s Appendix, at 142a-58a, 
Skilling v. United States, No. 08-1394 (2009) (docu-
menting prejudicial and voluminous publicity in 
Houston regarding the collapse of Enron, including 
for Brown’s trial). The Fifth Circuit’s decision under-
mines the Fifth Amendment and grants the govern-
ment an enormous advantage in complex cases. It 
also gives the government unwarranted, added incen-
tive to draft complicated and multi-pronged indict-
ments to facilitate repeated attempts to convict or to 

 
 14 Brown I also impacted other cases. United States v. 
Howard, 517 F.3d 731 (5th Cir. 2008); United States v. Howard, 
471 F.Supp.2d 772 (S.D. Tex. 2007); see also United States v. 
Kincaid-Chauncey, 556 F.3d 923 (9th Cir. 2009); United States v. 
Skilling, 554 F.3d 529 (5th Cir. 2009), cert. granted, 77 U.S.L.W. 
3645 (U.S. October 13, 2009) (No. 08-1394); United States v. 
Sorich, 523 F.3d 702 (7th Cir. 2008), cert. denied, ___ U.S. ___, 
129 S. Ct. 1308 (2009). This Court’s decision on this petition will 
also affect the prosecutions of Bayly and Furst, now scheduled 
for trial on the same charges in February 2010. 
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extract a plea of guilty from beleaguered Defendants 
crushed under the financial, reputational and psy-
chological stress. As this Court and others reverse the 
government’s overreaching wire fraud indictments, 
the double jeopardy issue has become increasingly 
important.15 Therefore, this Court’s clarification of the 
elements and scope of an ever-expanding wire fraud 
offense must also address the constitutional 
protection of double jeopardy. 

 Brown’s case is not about being tough on crime, 
or “protecting the integrity of our public markets,” as 
the prosecutors repeatedly urged. Tr. 390, 6141-42; 
App.186a. Nor are these the facts on which it might 
be justified to send a message to Wall Street. Tr. 6557; 
App.180a-84a. Rather, Brown’s original indictment 
and conviction were secured by over-zealous, creative 
and ambitious prosecutors at the expense of funda-
mental constitutional principles. Throughout this 
prosecution, the Enron Task Force targeted and 
criminalized lawful business conduct because the 
Defendants’ firm dealt with Enron. See Morrison v. 
Olson, 487 U.S. 654, 727-32 (1988) (Scalia, J., 

 
 15 A related issue has already arisen in Yeager v. United 
States, 521 F.3d 367 (5th Cir. 2008), reversed by this Court the 
day after the Fifth Circuit cited it authoritatively in Brown II. 
Yeager v. United States, ___ U.S. ___, 129 S. Ct. 2360 (2009) (the 
collateral estoppel arm of double jeopardy). Retrial and double 
jeopardy issues also arose after this Court reversed Arthur 
Andersen, LLP v. United States, 544 U.S. 696 (2005), and Hirko 
v. United States, ___ U.S. ___, 129 S. Ct. 2858 (2009), and may 
arise if Black, Skilling and Weyhrauch are reversed. 
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dissenting) (“It is in this realm – in which the 
[special] prosecutor selects some group of unpopular 
persons and then looks for an offense, that the 
greatest danger of abuse of prosecuting power lies.”). 
Now, despite a finding that Brown’s conduct was not 
criminal under the government’s broad view of 
intangible rights, the government seeks to prosecute 
Brown again – on the same indictment. This is 
precisely what the Double Jeopardy Clause is meant 
to prevent. The Fifth Circuit’s refusal to examine 
these novel wire fraud charges for double jeopardy 
handed the government an undeserved and unlawful 
“instrument of oppression” to wield against select and 
unpopular Defendants. United States v. Martin Linen 
Supply Co. 430 U.S. 564, 569 (1977). Certiorari is 
warranted. 

 
I. The Fifth Circuit’s Decision Defies The 

Statutory Text And Cannot Be Reconciled 
With The Decisions Of This Court Or Of 
The Fourth, Seventh, Eighth, And Tenth 
Circuits, Which View §§ 1343 And 1346 As 
A Single Offense 

 The Fifth Circuit’s decision allowing a second 
prosecution of Brown depends on a statutory miscon-
struction that deems § 1346 an offense separate from 
§ 1343 and sets a dangerous precedent. 

 1. In United States v. Dixon, 509 U.S. 688, 696-
97 (1993), this Court held that the same conduct 
could be prosecuted as two offenses only if each 
statute requires proof of an element that the other 
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does not. The Fifth Circuit’s decision ignores the 
statutory text, departs from this Court’s precedents 
and those of four Circuits, and fails the Dixon test. 
Wire fraud – with or without the intangible right of 
honest services – is only one offense, even when 
described in two statutes. By its text, § 1346 merely 
defines a phrase of § 1343, and together, they create a 
single offense: wire fraud. See Cleveland v. United 
States, 531 U.S. 12, 25-26 (2000) (finding one offense 
in § 1341’s two alternate phrases). Section 1346 
merely expands the “definition” of “scheme or artifice 
to defraud” found in § 1343 to include “the intangible 
right of honest services”; it depends entirely on § 1343 
for its essential elements to create an offense at all. 
Therefore, the text of the two statutes does not create 
the two separate offenses required for successive 
prosecution of the same conduct under Dixon. See 
Brown v. Illinois, 432 U.S. 161, 168-69 (1977); 
Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 303-04 
(1933).  

 2. This Court has not spoken to whether §§ 1343 
and 1346 create one offense or two. However, this 
Court’s decision in Cleveland portends the result. In 
Cleveland, looking only at § 1341, this Court rejected 
the government’s argument that the phrases – “any 
scheme and artifice to defraud,” or “for obtaining 
money or property . . . ” – created two separate offenses. 
The Court held instead that the second phrase 
modifies the first, creating a single offense. Cleveland, 
531 U.S. at 25-26. Applying Cleveland to the 
underlying issue in this case, whether the wire fraud 
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and the “intangible right of honest services” statutes 
create one offense or two, compels the conclusion that 
the statutes create only one offense: wire fraud. See 
id.16 By its text, § 1346 simply modifies the first 
phrase of § 1343: “any scheme and artifice to 
defraud.” Petitioner asks the Court to extend 
Cleveland and clarify that § 1346 and § 1343 do not 
create separate offenses for which Brown could be 
forced to defend a second time.  

 3. The Fifth Circuit’s decision departs from 
those of the Fourth, Seventh, Eighth, and Tenth 
Circuits, which view wire and mail fraud as single 
offenses notwithstanding § 1346. The Fourth Circuit 
has held that “the elements of a mail fraud scheme 
involving the deprivation of honest services are 
identical to those of a normal mail fraud prosecution.” 
United States v. Vinyard, 266 F.3d 320, 326 (4th Cir. 
2001). The Tenth Circuit also found the elements to 
be the same. United States v. Welch, 327 F.3d 1081, 
1104 (10th Cir. 2003) (“Whether alleging a depriva-
tion of property or honest services or both, a mail or 
wire fraud indictment must allege a scheme to defraud, 
an intent to defraud, and use of mail or wire.”). 

 The Seventh Circuit squarely held that “Section 
1346 is a definitional clause, not a separate crime, 
. . . ” United States v. Orsburn, 525 F.3d 543, 546 (7th 

 
 16 Legal authority and interpretation of the mail fraud 
statute are equally applicable to the wire fraud statute. 
Carpenter v. United States, 484 U.S. 19, 25 n.6 (1987). 
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Cir. 2008). Cf. United States v. Turner, 551 F.3d 657, 
667 (7th Cir. 2008). The Eighth Circuit has recognized 
that § 1346 merely “enlarged the definition of ‘scheme 
or artifice to defraud’ under § 1341 [and § 1343].” 
United States v. Ervasti, 201 F.3d 1029, 1036 (8th Cir. 
2000). It held that “[t]h[e] [honest services] statute does 
not stand alone – it modifies the definition of ‘scheme 
or artifice to defraud’ in § 1341.” United States v. 
Jain, 93 F.3d 436, 442 (8th Cir. 1996). Relatedly, the 
Eighth Circuit recently held that an indictment 
sufficiently states a wire fraud without using the 
words “honest services” or citing § 1346 – as long as the 
conduct alleged falls within that Circuit’s under-
standing of the offense. United States v. Redzic, 569 
F.3d 841, 846 (8th Cir. 2009). 

 In these Circuits, a second trial of Brown on 
these wire fraud charges would violate double 
jeopardy because the government’s allegations of 
“honest services” and citation to § 1346 were 
superfluous – the government’s redactions changed 
nothing. Thus, the offense is the identical wire fraud, 
with the same elements, and there is no separate 
wire fraud for which Brown can be tried a second 
time for the same (non-criminal) conduct. 

 4. As a matter of law, the “intangible right of 
honest services” was the government’s only colorable 
argument for criminalizing the conduct of a loyal 
Merrill employee who did not scheme to take money 
or property. In Cleveland, 531 U.S. at 12, 19-20, this 
Court held that “honest services,” as codified in § 1346, 
is the only “intangible right” to which Congress 
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restored protection after McNally. Similarly, the 
Sixth and First Circuits, and even a different panel of 
the Fifth, have recognized that “§ 1346, by its terms, 
did not restore the application of the mail fraud 
statute to all ‘intangible rights,’ ” but only to the 
deprivation of honest services. United States v. 
Turner, 465 F.3d 667, 673 (6th Cir. 2006); see United 
States v. Czubinski, 106 F.3d 1069, 1076 (1st Cir. 
1997); United States v. Gray, 96 F.3d 769, 773-74 (5th 
Cir. 1996), cert. denied, 520 U.S. 1129 (1997). A 
review of the indictment establishes that the govern-
ment’s wire fraud charges against Brown depended 
entirely on “intangible rights” because of both the 
limited nature of the factual allegations, and the 
bare-bones, generic statutory language recited in the 
indictment.  

 5. Brown was indicted originally and faces a 
second trial on factual allegations that, “as part of a 
scheme to manipulate Enron’s reported earnings, 
Enron and Merrill Lynch executives engaged in a 
year-end 1999 deal that involved the ‘parking’ of 
Enron assets with Merrill Lynch.” App.40a, 43a, 
138a, 141a. Asserting that a “secret side-deal,” made 
in the phone call with Fastow, created a loan rather 
than a sale, the indictment further alleges that by 
“facilitating the Enron executives’ deception, Merrill 
Lynch executives solidified Merrill’s status as a 
‘friend of Enron’ ” and that Enron executives received 
unwarranted bonuses. App.40a, 43a, 137a, 140a. As 
for the legal violations, Count I indicted Brown for 
conspiring: 
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along with conspirators Andrew S. Fastow 
and Ben F. Glisan, Jr., and others [ ]  to: (a) 
knowingly and intentionally devise a scheme 
and artifice to defraud Enron and its 
shareholders, [including to deprive them 
of the intangible right of honest ser-
vices of its employees],17 and to obtain 
money and property by means of materially 
false and fraudulent pretenses, represen-
tations, and promises, and for the purpose 
of executing such scheme and artifice to 
transmit and cause to be transmitted by 
means of wire communication . . . , all in 
violation of Title 18, United States Code, 
Sections 1343, 1346 [sic]18; and (b) knowingly 
and willfully falsify books, records and 
accounts of Enron in violation of Title 15, 
United States Code, Sections 78m(b) (2) (A) 
& (B), 78m(b) (5) and 78ff and Title 17, Code 
of Federal Regulations, Section 240.13b2-1.  

Counts II and III allege two substantive wire fraud 
offenses based on the same conduct and purported 
scheme of Count I(a): 

defendants . . . , having devised a scheme 
and artifice to defraud Enron and its share-
holders, [including to deprive them of 
the intangible right of honest services 

 
 17 The bolded and bracketed language was redacted by the 
government after the Fifth Circuit’s decision in Brown I. 
App.129a, 138a. 
 18 The government did not redact this citation to § 1346. 
App.149a. 
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of its employees], and to obtain money and 
property . . . (of Title 18, United States Code, 
Sections 1343, [1346], 2 and 3551 et seq.) 

 Without the § 1346 intangible right of honest 
services (bolded and bracketed above), the wire fraud 
allegations amount to no indictment at all. See 
App.138a. In Cleveland, this Court rejected the 
government’s malleable concept of property rights 
and held that a traditional wire fraud must be 
predicated on a scheme to defraud specific victims of 
money or property that was in their hands before the 
fraud. “It does not suffice, we clarify, that the object of 
the fraud may become property in the recipient’s 
hands; for purposes of the [wire] fraud statute, the 
thing obtained must be property in the hands of the 
victim.” Cleveland, 531 U.S. at 15. 

 Undeterred by the reasoning and approach of 
Cleveland, this second prosecution depends on an 
(unalleged and legally non-existent) intangible right 
to “material economic information” that the district 
court read into the indictment. This unalleged right 
appeared in a Brown I jury instruction demanded by 
the government. App.172a. Thus, even the govern-
ment’s purported “second prong of wire fraud” (its 
supposed “straightforward scheme to deprive of 
money and property”) depended – then and now – 
entirely upon what the district court instructed the 
jury was an “intangible right[ ]” that “certain persons 
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have to some kinds of information.”19 App.40a, 129a, 
138a, 172a. 

 6. Despite this Court’s decision in Cleveland, 
confusion still reigns regarding the elements and 
scope of wire fraud. As the Seventh Circuit noted in 
United States v. Black, 530 F.3d 596, 601 (7th Cir. 
2008), cert. granted, 129 S. Ct. 2379 (2009), “honest 
services fraud bleeds into money or property fraud.”20 
Courts and scholars have expressed growing concern 
regarding the “anathema” of federal common law. 
Rogers v. Tennessee, 532 U.S. 451, 476 (2001) (Scalia, 

 
 19 In Brown I, the district court instructed the jury – over 
Brown’s strong objections – that the indictment alleges two 
schemes to defraud – one, of honest services; the second, of 
property. App.167a. Dkt. 439, pp.22-29. Tellingly, however, the 
Court’s definition of “property” circled back to a purported 
“intangible right.” On the government’s motion, the court 
defined property to include: 

Certain intangible rights, such as the right that 
certain persons have to some kinds of information. 
Thus shareholders of a corporation have a property 
right to the full and accurate reporting of the 
corporation’s material economic information so that 
shareholders can monitor and police the behavior of 
the corporation and its officers and directors in order 
to protect the value of the shareholders’ investment. 

App.172a. 
 20 See also Paul Mogin, The Property Rights Limitation in 
Mail and Wire Fraud Cases, CHAMPION at 24 (April 2008) 
(discussing confusion regarding what constitutes “property”); 
Ellen S. Podgor, Criminal Fraud, 48 AM. U. L. REV. 729, 733 
(1999) (“the ‘scheme or artifice to defraud’ element of generic 
fraud statutes, such as mail fraud, has expanded and contracted 
throughout the years”). 
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J., dissenting).21 In the absence of clear lines, 
prosecutors have indicted on increasingly creative 
and unprecedented concepts of criminality. See, e.g., 
United States v. Turner, 465 F.3d 667, 676-78, 683 
(6th Cir. 2006) (vacating mail fraud convictions and 
dismissing indictment in election fraud case premised 
on the novel theory that the candidate attempted to 
obtain money – a salary); United States v. Ratcliff, 
488 F.3d 639, 645-46 (5th Cir. 2007) (reversing a 
conviction and dismissing an election scheme indicted 
as mail fraud where there were “no allegations that 
the [victim] would be deceived, either directly or indi-
rectly, into taking any action at all”).  

 
 21 See Geraldine Szott Moohr, Mail Fraud and the 
Intangible Rights Doctrine: Someone to Watch over Us, 31 HARV. 
J. ON LEGIS. 153, 179 (1994) (noting how judicial interpretation 
of intangible rights is “an excellent example of judicial crime 
creation. Prosecutors and judges, by repeatedly using the facts 
of a specific case to fill the interstices left by the vague mail 
fraud statute, effectively exercise lawmaking powers. The 
process . . . allows the executive and judicial branches to usurp 
legislative functions. Judicial crime creation invites and 
encourages prosecutors to bring previously undefined conduct to 
trial in the hope that the court will criminalize it.”); John C. 
Coffee, Jr., The Metastasis of Mail Fraud: The Continuing Story 
of the “Evolution” of a White-Collar Crime, 21 AM. CRIM. L. REV. 
1, 3 (1983) (arguing that mail fraud statute “seems destined to 
provide the federal prosecutor with what Archimedes long 
sought – a simple fulcrum from which one can move the world”). 
The breadth and depth of the Circuit splits in regard to § 1346 
alone is profound. See Brief for Amicus Curiae NACDL, United 
States v. Black, No. 08-876 (August 2009).  
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 7. The expansive interpretations of §§ 1343 and 
1346 stand in stark contrast to the “basic principle 
that a criminal statute must give fair warning” of the 
conduct that makes it a crime. Bouie v. City of 
Columbia, 378 U.S. 347, 350 (1964); cf. United States 
v. Bass, 404 U.S. 336, 348 (1971). The lack of fair 
warning extends not only to the nature of the crime, 
but also to its parameters. Only the current chaos in 
the law and the government’s unbounded creativity 
and seemingly unlimited resources for retrials make 
it possible for one offense to be construed as two, and, 
for something as sacred as the protection against 
double jeopardy to be lost. The Fifth Circuit’s finding 
that Brown’s conduct was not criminal under the gov-
ernment’s broadest scheme and artifice to defraud, 
including the “intangible right of honest services,” 
should have terminated all wire fraud charges 
against Brown. Dixon, 509 U.S. at 696; Harris v. 
Oklahoma, 433 U.S. 682, 682-83 (1977). However, 
until this Court cabins the aggressive expansion of 
these statutes and clarifies the applicability, if any, of 
“intangible rights” to private commercial transac-
tions, protection of the Double Jeopardy Clause is 
itself jeopardized.  
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II. The Fifth Circuit’s Refusal To Compare 
The Indictments On Brown’s Double 
Jeopardy Claim Cannot Be Reconciled 
With This Court’s Precedent And Conflicts 
With The Procedure Adopted In Eight 
Circuits 

A. To Be Meaningful, the Prohibition 
Against Double Jeopardy Must Be 
Protected Before a Second Trial 
Begins 

 For centuries, a Defendant has been entitled to 
plead an acquittal as a bar “upon a prosecution for 
the same identical act and crime.” 4 W. Blackstone, 
COMMENTARIES ON THE LAWS OF ENGLAND 330 (1769). 
This fundamental right was enshrined in our Fifth 
Amendment: “[N]or shall any person be subject for 
the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or 
limb.” U.S. CONST., Amend. V. 

 “[T]here has never been any doubt of [the Fifth 
Amendment’s] entire and complete protection of the 
party when a second punishment is proposed in the 
same court, on the same facts, for the same statutory 
offence.” Ex Parte Lange, 85 U.S. 163, 168-69, 173 
(1873). The “principle [is] that no man shall more 
than once be placed in peril of legal penalties upon 
the same accusation.” Id. at 173. The central premise 
of the Double Jeopardy Clause “is that the State with 
all its resources and power should not be allowed to 
make repeated attempts to convict an individual for 
an alleged offense, thereby subjecting him to 
embarrassment, expense and ordeal and compelling 
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him to live in a continuing state of anxiety and 
insecurity as well as enhancing the possibility that 
even though innocent he may be found guilty.” Green 
v. United States, 355 U.S. 184, 187-88 (1957).  

 This right is so important that it is one of the few 
this Court protects by permitting an interlocutory 
appeal. “[I]f a criminal defendant is to avoid exposure 
to double jeopardy and thereby enjoy the full 
protection of the Clause, his double jeopardy 
challenge to the indictment must be reviewable 
before that subsequent exposure occurs.” Abney v. 
United States, 431 U.S. 651, 662 (1977). Even if a 
Defendant “has his conviction ultimately reversed on 
double jeopardy grounds, he has still been forced to 
endure a trial that the Double Jeopardy Clause was 
designed to prohibit.” Id. 

 Brown is entitled to that review and protection 
here. Neither the alleged conduct, the purported 
scheme, nor the offense has changed from that which 
the Fifth Circuit found was not a federal crime. Having 
failed to prove that Brown’s conduct constituted a crime 
under its most liberal construction of the vaguest of 
statutes, the government is not entitled to a second 
chance. See Burks v. United States, 437 U.S. 1, 16 
(1978) (The prosecution, having “one fair opportunity 
to offer whatever proof it could assemble,” failed to 
make its case.).  
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B. The Fifth Circuit’s Refusal to Review 
the Indictments Cannot Be Reconciled 
with a Century of this Court’s Prece-
dent, and Defies the Settled Practice 
of Eight Circuits 

 1. The government is bound by “the precise 
manner” in which its indictment is drawn, because 
the indictment clarifies the extent to which the 
Defendant “may plead a former acquittal or 
conviction.” Sanabria v. United States, 437 U.S. 54, 
65-66 (1978) (internal citations omitted). The 
charging decision and description of the offense in the 
charging instruments must be imputed to the 
government for double jeopardy purposes. See 
Downum v. United States, 372 U.S. 734, 737-38 
(1963) (double jeopardy barred retrial where first 
jury’s failure to arrive at a verdict was solely 
attributable to prosecution); Saylor v. Cornelius, 845 
F.2d 1401, 1403-07 (6th Cir. 1988) (double jeopardy 
bars retrial where “ending of the trial without a 
conviction of the defendant was . . . due to the action 
of the prosecution”); see also United States v. Dinitz, 
424 U.S. 600, 611 (1976) (double jeopardy “bars 
retrials where bad-faith conduct by judge or 
prosecutor, threatens the harassment of an accused 
by successive prosecutions . . . so as to afford the 
prosecution a more favorable opportunity to convict 
the defendant”) (internal citations omitted); United 
States v. Tateo, 377 U.S. 463, 468 n.3 (1964) (double 
jeopardy inquiry considers prosecutorial overreaching 
in the necessity for second prosecution).  
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 Instead of examining the indictments, the stat-
utes or the jurisprudence, Brown II looked only to the 
prior panel decision in Brown I. Brown II concluded, 
based on dicta and inferences from the Brown I 
opinion, that “the indictment alleged three means for 
the conspiracy.” Brown II, 571 F.3d at 498. Brown II 
viewed the indictment as alleging more than one wire 
fraud, saw no double jeopardy issue, and therefore, 
held that it had no appellate jurisdiction. Id. at 498 
n.26, 499. The Brown II panel, however, never 
performed the essential task of comparing the two 
indictments. The Fifth Circuit’s approach and 
conclusion cannot be reconciled with this Court’s 
decisions and splits from the settled procedure of 
eight Circuits, and previously its own.  

 2. For more than a century, this Court has 
focused on the charges against a Defendant to eval-
uate a claim of double jeopardy. See Grafton v. United 
States, 206 U.S. 333, 350 (1907) (jeopardy bars second 
prosecution of soldier in a civil court after acquittal of 
the same offense by military tribunal). The text of the 
Double Jeopardy Clause itself hinges on whether the 
offense for which a Defendant is to be tried or 
punished is the same. United States v. Dixon, 509 
U.S. 688, 696-97 (1993). In Dixon, this Court 
reaffirmed the “Blockburger” test, which “inquires 
whether each offense contains an element not con-
tained in the other; if not, they are the ‘same offence’ 
and double jeopardy bars . . . successive prosecution.” 
Dixon, 509 U.S. at 696. See Harris v. Oklahoma, 433 
U.S. 682, 682-83 (1977) (double jeopardy bars second 
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prosecution for an offense after jeopardy attached on 
a statutory offense incorporated in it). As Justice 
Scalia noted in Grady v. Corbin, 495 U.S. 508, 528 
(1990) (Scalia, J., dissenting), the second prosecution 
in Harris “was impermissible because it would again 
force the Defendant to defend against the charge of 
robbery.” The same is true here. The government 
would force Brown to defend against wire fraud again 
– the same offense and the same conduct. Because the 
Double Jeopardy Clause “presupposes that sameness 
can be determined before the second trial,” this Court 
must address the wire fraud issue so that “sameness 
can be determined” before Brown is put in jeopardy a 
second time. Grady, 495 U.S. at 529.  

 3. Successive prosecution of Brown also violates 
the rule of Brown v. Ohio, 432 U.S. 161 (1977), in 
which this Court held that “[w]here the judge is 
forbidden to impose cumulative punishment for two 
crimes at the end of a single proceeding, the prose-
cutor is forbidden to strive for the same result in 
successive proceedings.” Id. at 166. It is beyond dis-
pute that Brown cannot receive consecutive sentences 
on each of the government’s “theories” of wire fraud – 
all based on identical conduct. See Dixon, 509 U.S. at 
704 (Double Jeopardy Clause “serves the function of 
preventing both successive punishment and succes-
sive prosecution . . . but there is no authority, . . . , for 
the proposition that it has different meanings in the 
two contexts”) (emphasis in original). A separate 
“theory” of criminality does not constitute a separate 
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offense. Braverman v. United States, 317 U.S. 49, 54 
(1942) (distinguishing single offense based on same 
underlying conduct, for which only a single punish-
ment may be imposed, from “successive acts which 
violate a single penal statute and from a single act 
which violates two statutes”). Because Brown could 
not be punished cumulatively for “honest services 
fraud” and “money or property fraud” regarding the 
same conduct, the government cannot prosecute him 
in successive proceedings. 

 4. To protect the sacred right against double 
jeopardy, eight Circuits have held that “when a 
defendant puts double jeopardy in issue with a non-
frivolous showing that an indictment charges him 
with an offense for which he was formerly placed in 
jeopardy, the burden shifts to the government to 
establish that there were in fact two separate 
offenses.”22 United States v. Ragins, 840 F.2d 1184, 
1192 (4th Cir. 1988) (discussing origins and collecting 
cases); see also United States v. Laguna-Estela, 394 
F.3d 54, 56 (1st Cir. 2005) (“A defendant claiming 
double jeopardy has the burden of presenting evi-
dence to establish a prima facie non-frivolous double 
jeopardy claim. Once such a claim is established, the 

 
 22 The Fifth Circuit applied this standard until Brown’s 
case. See United States v. Delgado, 256 F.3d 264, 270 (5th Cir. 
2001); United States v. Stricklin, 591 F.2d 1112, 1117-18 (5th 
Cir.), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 963 (1979). The panel only cited 
Delgado in a footnote and did not attempt to discuss or 
distinguish it in Brown II.  
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burden shifts to the government to prove by a pre-
ponderance of the evidence that the indictments 
charge separate offenses.”) (internal citation omitted); 
United States v. Olmeda, 461 F.3d 271, 282-83 (2d 
Cir. 2006) (same); United States v. Liotard, 817 F.2d 
1074, 1077 (3d Cir. 1987) (same); United States v. 
Jabara, 644 F.2d 574, 576-77 (6th Cir. 1981) (same); 
United States v. Doyle, 121 F.3d 1078, 1089 (7th Cir. 
1997) (same); United States v. Hively, 437 F.3d 752, 
762 (8th Cir. 2006) (same); United States v. Lloyd, 743 
F.2d 1555, 1562-63 (11th Cir. 1984) (same).  

 Brown established a prima facie case of double 
jeopardy. The government did not obtain a new indict-
ment, and “whiting-out” the words “honest services” 
did not create a separate wire fraud offense arising 
out of the identical facts. The government cannot 
meet its burden of establishing that its current 
indictment charges a wire fraud offense at all – much 
less a separate one. Brown faces a second trial on 
identical wire fraud charges, however, because the 
Fifth Circuit ignored settled procedure. Had the Fifth 
Circuit compared the two indictments and held the 
government to its burden, the indictment would have 
failed the Dixon test. 

 5. The underlying substantive law is so clouded 
that a Defendant’s constitutional right against double 
jeopardy has been lost in the fog. The Circuit discord 
over the interrelationship and elements of “wire 
fraud,” and the absence of any discernable outer 
boundary of this crime, especially when intangible 
rights are implicated, has placed Brown in jeopardy 
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again. Brown engaged in no conduct that was itself 
unlawful, yet he stands on the precipice of a second 
trial for the same wire fraud that the Fifth Circuit 
found was not criminal. By allowing honest services 
(§ 1346) and wire fraud (§ 1343) to be prosecuted as 
separate offenses, the Fifth Circuit sacrificed Brown’s 
fundamental constitutional right. 

 6. Brown’s double jeopardy challenge flows 
ineluctably from the original, and now recycled, 
unprecedented charges and from the government’s 
relentless prosecution – apparently as many times as 
it takes until this Court intercedes. Both Brown’s 
original conviction and this second threat of jeopardy 
exemplify the abuse of this expansive statute “by 
headline-grabbing prosecutors in pursuit of . . . 
[those] who engage in any manner of unappealing or 
ethically questionable conduct.” Sorich v. United 
States, 129 S. Ct. 1308, 1310 (2009) (Scalia, J., 
dissenting from denial of certiorari). That the double 
jeopardy issue arises in the context of the govern-
ment’s increasingly novel theories of wire fraud 
starkly demonstrates the need for this Court to 
resolve these recurring issues of central importance 
to our criminal laws, our Constitution, and the fair 
administration of justice. By granting certiorari in 
this case, this Court can: (i) extend Cleveland and 
clarify that § 1346 and § 1343 create only one offense; 
(ii) confirm and make uniform the procedure adopted 
by the majority of Circuits that compare the indict-
ments and shift the burden to the government to 
establish that there is a separate offense; and, 
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(iii) protect Brown from the irreparable harm of a 
second trial for the same offense and conduct already 
adjudged insufficient to constitute a crime and for 
which he had no fair warning. 

--------------------------------- ♦ --------------------------------- 
 

CONCLUSION 

 Where the Double Jeopardy Clause applies, “its 
sweep is absolute.” Burks, 437 U.S. at 11 n.6. This 
petition for certiorari should be granted. 
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